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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

____________________________________
                                    )
                                    )
     In The Matter of               )                          
                   ) DOCKET NO. C-3710
GENERAL MOTORS CORPORATION,         )
     a corporation.                 )
                                    )     
____________________________________)

COMPLAINT

The Federal Trade Commission, having reason to believe that
General Motors Corporation, a corporation ("respondent" or
"General Motors"), has violated the provisions of the Federal
Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.  45-58, as amended, the
Consumer Leasing Act, 15 U.S.C.  1667-1667e, as amended, and
its implementing Regulation M, 12 C.F.R.  213, as amended, and
the Truth in Lending Act, 15 U.S.C.  1601-1667, as amended, and
its implementing Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R.  226, as amended, and
it appearing to the Commission that this proceeding is in the
public interest, alleges:

1. Respondent General Motors Corporation is a Delaware
corporation with its principal office or place of business at
3044 West Grand Boulevard, Detroit, Michigan 48202.  Respondent
manufactures vehicles and offers such vehicles for sale or lease
to consumers.

2. Respondent has disseminated advertisements to the public
that promote consumer leases, as the terms "advertisement" and
"consumer lease" are defined in Section 213.2 of Regulation M, 12
C.F.R.  213.2, as amended. 

3. Respondent has disseminated advertisements to the public
that promote credit sales and other extensions of closed-end
credit in consumer credit transactions, as the terms
"advertisement," "credit sale," and "consumer credit" are defined
in Section 226.2 of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R.  226.2, as amended.

4. The acts and practices of respondent alleged in this
complaint have been in or affecting commerce, as "commerce" is
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defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15
U.S.C.  44.

Lease Advertising

5. Respondent has disseminated or has caused to be disseminated
consumer lease advertisements ( lease advertisements ) for
General Motors vehicles, including but not necessarily limited to
 the attached General Motors Exhibits A through D.  General
Motors Exhibits A, B, and C are television lease advertisements
(attached in video and storyboard format).  General Motors
Exhibit D is a print lease advertisement.  These advertisements
contain the following statements:

A. [Audio:] "All this, just $299 a month.  The S-Blazer 2 
year lease."

[Video:] "2 Years.  $299 a Month.  $1,260 Down."

[The advertisement contains the following lease
disclosure at the bottom of the screen in light-colored
fine print superimposed on gray, moving water
background, and accompanied by background sound and
images: SEE YOUR PARTICIPATING DEALER FOR
QUALIFICATION DETAILS.  Example based on $22,847 MSRP
incl. destination charge, 1st month & lease payment
$298.63, $1260 down payment plus $325 refundable
security deposit for a total of $1883.63 due at lease
signing (incl. capitalized cost reduction).  Tax,
license, title fees and insurance extra.  Mileage
charge of 10 [cents] mile over 30,000. GMAC must
approve lease.  SEE YOUR PARTICIPATING DEALER FOR
QUALIFICATION DETAILS.  Total of monthly payments is
$7,167.12.  Payments may be higher in AL, AR, CA, NY,
TX, and VA.  Option to purchase at lease end for
$16,022.82 is fixed at lease signing and varies by
model, equip., level, usage and length of lease. 
Lessee pays for excessive wear and use.   The fine
print is displayed on two screens in blocks of at least
five lines, each appearing for approximately 5
seconds.]  (General Motors Exhibit A).

B. [Audio:] ". . . by leasing an Oldsmobile Achieva with 
air, anti-lock brakes and more for just $209 a

month."

[Video:] "$209 per month/$1075 Down."
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[The advertisement contains the following lease
disclosure at the bottom of the screen in white print
superimposed over a light-colored moving background,
and accompanied by background sound and images: FIRST
MONTH'S LEASE PAYMENT OF $208.72, REFUNDABLE SECURITY
DEPOSIT OF $225 AND A $1,075 CAPITALIZED COST REDUCTION
FOR A TOTAL OF $1,508.72 DUE AT LEASE SIGNING.  TAX,
LICENSE, TITLE, FEES, AND INSURANCE ARE EXTRA.  GMAC
MUST APPROVE LEASE.  EXAMPLE BASED ON ACHIEVA S SEDAN:
$15,164 M.S.R.P., INCLUDING DESTINATION CHARGE. 
MONTHLY PAYMENTS BASED ON CAPITALIZED COST OF
$13,225.88 INCLUDING CAPITALIZED COST REDUCTION.  TOTAL
OF 48 MONTHLY PAYMENTS IS $10,018.56.  AMOUNT OF
CAPITALIZED COST REDUCTION MAY BE SLIGHTLY HIGHER IN
AL, AR, CA, NY, TX, and VA.  OPTION TO PURCHASE AT
LEASE END FOR $6,030.64.  MILEAGE CHARGE OF 10 [CENTS]
PER MILE OVER MILEAGE LIMIT.  LESSEE PAYS FOR EXCESSIVE
WEAR AND USE.  PAYMENT BASED ON RESIDUALS IN EFFECT
THROUGH MARCH 31, 1993.  SEE YOUR PARTICIPATING DEALER
FOR QUALIFICATION DETAILS.   The fine print is
displayed on two screens in blocks of at least 6 lines,
each block appearing for approximately 4 seconds.  The
two screens containing this information are interrupted
by two other screens that do not contain lease
information.]  (General Motors Exhibit B).

 
C. [Audio:] "And, it's all only $289 a month."

[Video:] "$289 36 MONTH 
GMAC SMARTLEASE"

[The advertisement contains a lease disclosure that
describes additional lease costs and terms, including
but not limited to a downpayment, a security deposit, a
purchase option amount and other lease-end fees in an
extremely small, blurred, dark blue print, superimposed
over the dark-colored front of the advertised vehicle.
  The fine print is displayed in a block of
approximately 13 lines for approximately 2.5 seconds.]
 (General Motors Exhibit C).

D. "Two Summers, Two Winters, Two Springs, Two Falls. $299
A Month."

[Bold but smaller]: "The S-Blazer 2-Year Lease. $299 A 
Month. $1350 Down."
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[The advertisement contains the following lease
disclosure below a picture of the vehicle in white fine
print superimposed over a black background: $299/month
24-month lease at participating dealers.  Tax, license,
title fees and insurance extra.  Mileage charge of 10
cents per mile over 30,000. . . . $23,075 M.S.R.P.,
including destination charge.  First month s lease
payment of $298.45, $1350 down payment, plus $325
refundable security deposit for a total of $1973.45 due
at lease signing (includes capitalized cost reduction).
 Total of monthly payments is $7162.80. . . .  Option
to purchase at lease end for $16,173.30. . . .  Lessee
pays for excessive wear and use. . . .   (General
Motors Exhibit D).

Federal Trade Commission Act Violations
COUNT I: Misrepresentation in Lease Advertising

 
6. Through the means described in Paragraph 5, respondent has
represented, expressly or by implication, that the amount stated
as "down" in respondent's lease advertisements is the total
amount consumers must pay at lease inception to lease the
advertised vehicles.

7. In truth and in fact, the amount stated as "down" in
respondent's lease advertisements is not the total amount
consumers must pay at lease inception to lease the advertised
vehicles.  Consumers must also pay additional fees beyond the
amount stated as "down," such as the first month's payment and
security deposit, at lease inception.  Therefore, respondent's
representation as alleged in Paragraph 6 was, and is, false or
misleading.

8. Respondent's practices constitute deceptive acts or
practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a)
of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.  45(a).

COUNT II: Failure to Disclose Adequately in Lease Advertising

9. In its lease advertisements, respondent has represented,
expressly or by implication, that consumers can lease the
advertised vehicles at the terms prominently stated in the
advertisements, including but not necessarily limited to the
monthly payment amount and/or amount stated as "down."  These
advertisements do not adequately disclose additional terms
pertaining to the lease offer, including but not necessarily
limited to a required security deposit and first month's payment
due at lease inception.  The existence of these additional terms
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would be material to consumers in deciding whether to lease a
General Motors vehicle.  The failure to disclose adequately these
additional terms, in light of the representation made, was, and
is, a deceptive practice.

10. Respondent's practices constitute deceptive acts or
practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a)
of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.  45(a).

COUNT III: Consumer Leasing Act and Regulation M Violations

11. Respondent s lease advertisements, including but not
necessarily limited to General Motors Exhibits A through D, state
a monthly payment amount, the number of required payments, and/or
an amount down.   The lease disclosures in these advertisements
contain one or more of the following terms required by Regulation
M: that the transaction advertised is a lease; the total amount
of any payment such as a security deposit or capitalized cost
reduction required at the consummation of the lease or that no
such payments are required; the total of periodic payments due
under the lease; a statement of whether or not the lessee has the
option to purchase the leased property and at what price and time
or the method of determining the purchase-option price; and a
statement of the amount or method of determining the amount of
any liabilities the lease imposes upon the lessee at the end of
the term.

12. The lease disclosures in respondent s television lease
advertisements, including but not necessarily limited to General
Motors Exhibits A, B, and C, are not clear and conspicuous
because they appear on the screen in small type, against a
background of similar shade, for a very short duration, with
background sounds and images, and/or over a moving background. 
The lease disclosures in respondent's print lease advertisements,
including but not necessarily limited to General Motors Exhibit
D, are also not clear and conspicuous because they appear in
small type.

13. Respondent's practices violate Sect ion 184 of the Consumer
Leasing Act, 15 U.S.C.  1667c, as amended, and Section  213.5(c)
of Regulation M, 12 C.F.R.  213.5(c), as amended.

Credit Advertising

14. Respondent has disseminated or has caused to be disseminated
credit sale advertisements ( credit advertisements ) for General
Motors vehicles, including but not necessarily limited to
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General Motors Exhibits E and F.  General Motors Exhibits E and F
are television credit advertisements (attached in video and
storyboard format).  These advertisements contain the following
statements:

A. [Audio:] "Then we told them that Jimmy was only $299 a 
month with a GMAC SmartBuy.  [Consumer #6:]

$299 a month? [Consumer #7:] $299 a month -- that's
great.  [Consumer #8:] A Jimmy like this for $299 a
month would be fantastic."

[Video:] "$299 a month 36-Month GMAC SmartBuy."

[The advertisement contains the following credit 
disclosure in white print superimposed on a light-
colored background, and accompanied by background sound 
and images: Example based on Jimmy MSRP of $20,498.  
6.9% APR GMAC SMARTBUY FINANCING.  For 36 months, 35 
months at $299.38 per month and final payment of 
$9441.94.  $3350 down, actual down payment may vary.  
Tax, license, title fees and insurance extra.  
Purchaser may refinance the final payment, or with 30 
days advance written notice se ll the vehicle to GMAC at 
end of term and pay $250 disposal fee plus any excess 
mileage and wear charges.  Dealer financial 
participation may affect consumer cost.  See your 
participating dealer for qualification details.  You 
must take retail delivery out of dealer stock by 
9/22/93.   The fine print is displayed in a scrolling 
format of 11 lines for approximately 4 seconds.] 
(General Motors Exhibit E).

B. [Audio:] "Still waiting to buy a new Buick?  Well 
don't.  Buick's Model Year Close-Out is on. . . .

 Or get this great SmartBuy payment."

[Video:] "Still waiting to buy a new Buick?  Well 
Don't. Buick's 1995 Model Year Close-Out. . . . 

Buick Regal SmartBuy $249 per month  30 months/$2000
down."

[The advertisement contains the following credit
disclosure at the bottom of the screen in white print
superimposed on a black background with a moving
vehicle above the disclosure block and accompanied by
background sound: For cash back, you must take retail
delivery from dealer stock by 11/30/95.  SmartBuy on
1995 Regal Custom SE with 3800 engine.  $20,853 MSRP
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incl. destination charge for a monthly payment of
$248.67/mo.  30 mo. $2000 cash down or trade-in value
($3500 down payment less $1500 customer cash back). 
First month's payment plus down payment trade-in value
for total of $3746.67 due at lease signing.  Payment
based on capitalized cost of ____.  Tax, title,
license, doc. fee extra.  Must take retail delivery
from dealer stock by October 4, 1995.  GMAC must
approve the SmartBuy. Options at contract maturity: pay
the final payment of $11,677.68, refinance the final
payment with GMAC, sell the vehicle to GMAC and remit
$250 disposal fee plus 15 cents/mile for mileage
exceeding 30,000 miles for excessive wear and use.  See
participating Buick dealers for qualification details.
 The fine print is displayed in a scrolling format of
11 lines for approximately 4 seconds.]  (General Motors
Exhibit F).

Federal Trade Commission Act Violations
Count IV: Misrepresentation in Credit Advertising

15. Through the means described in Paragraph 14, respondent has
represented, expressly or by implication, that consumers can buy
the advertised General Motors vehicles at the terms prominently
stated in the advertisements, including but not necessarily
limited to the monthly payment amount and/or amount stated as
"down."

16. In truth and in fact, consumers cannot buy the advertised
General Motors vehicles at the terms prominently stated in the
advertisements, including but not necessarily limited to the
monthly payment amount and/or amount stated as "down."  Consumers
are also responsible for a final balloon payment of several
thousand dollars to purchase the advertised vehicles.  Therefore,
respondent's representation as alleged in Paragraph 15 was, and
is, false or misleading.

17. Respondent's practices constitute deceptive acts or
practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a)
of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.  45(a).

COUNT V: Failure to Disclose Adequately in Credit Advertising

18. In its credit advertisements, respondent has represented,
expressly or by implication, that consumers can buy the
advertised vehicles at the terms prominently stated in the
advertisements, including but not necessarily limited to the
monthly payment amount and/or amount stated as "down."  These
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advertisements do not adequately disclose additional terms
pertaining to the credit offer, including but not necessarily
limited to a final balloon payment of several thousand dollars
and the annual percentage rate.  The existence of these
additional terms would be material to consumers in deciding
whether to buy a General Motors vehicle.  The failure to disclose
adequately these additional terms, in light of the representation
made, was, and is, a deceptive practice.

19. Respondent's practices constitute deceptive acts or
practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5(a)
of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C.  45(a).

COUNT VI: Truth in Lending Act and Regulation Z Violations

20. Respondent s credit advertisements, including but not
necessarily limited to General Motors Exhibits E and F, state a
monthly payment amount and/or an amount "down."  The credit
disclosures in these advertisements contain the following terms
required by Regulation Z: the annual percentage rate and the
terms of repayment.

21. The credit disclosures in respondent's television credit
advertisements, including but not necessarily limited to General
Motors Exhibits E and F, are not clear and conspicuous because
they appear on the screen in small type, against a background of
similar shade, for a very short duration, in a rapid scrolling
format, and/or with background sounds.

22. Respondent's practices violate Section  144 of the Truth in
Lending Act, 15 U.S.C.  1664, as amended, and Section  226.24(c)
of Regulation Z, 12 C.F.R.  226.24(c), as amended.

THEREFORE, the Federal Trade Commission this sixth day of
February, 1997, has issued this complaint against respondent.

 By the Commission.

Donald S. Clark
Secretary

SEAL:

[Exhibits A-F attached to paper copies of complaint, but not
available in electronic form.]


